

Enhancing summer soybean yield through evaluation of herbicidal weed management options

ABSTRACT

An experiment was plotted with an aim of enhancing summer soybean yield through evaluation of herbicidal weed management options on medium black calcareous soil at Junagadh Agricultural University, Junagadh during summer season of 2021. The experiment comprised 12 treatments that were arranged in randomized block design with 3 replications. The consequences pointed out that following to weed free treatment, pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as pre-emergence *fb* hand weeding and inter-culturing at 30 DAS, hand weeding at 15 days after sowing (DAS) *fb* pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as post-emergence at 30 DAS, hand weeding at 15 DAS *fb* pre-mix fluazifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as post-emergence at 30 DAS and pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as pre-emergence *fb* pre-mix fluazifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as post-emergence at 30 DAS enhanced growth parameters viz., plant height, branches per plant; yield attributes i.e., number of pods per plant and ultimately lead to greater seed yield and stover yield. These herbicidal weed management options also reduced population in addition to dry matter of weeds and had less reduction in yield due to better control of weeds, less crop-weed competition and higher weed control efficiency. There were no any phytotoxicity symptoms observed on succeeding groundnut, pearl millet, sesame and cotton crops.

Key words: Soybean, herbicides, pre and post-emergence, weed control, growth, yield, phytotoxicity

1. INTRODUCTION

Soybean has a protruding place among recent agricultural commodities as the world's most imperative seed legume as well as oilseed crop, which pays about 25% to the worldwide edible oil manufacture, about 2/3 of the world's protein concentrate for cattle feeding and a significant commodity for food producers, pharma business and supplementary industrial practices. Therefore, the thing is no shock that total soybean demand is growing rapidly. It offers 40% protein besides 20% comestible oil, as well vitamins and minerals. Soybean is recognized as the "Golden bean" and a miracle crop of the 21st century. There is enormous opportunity for soybean cultivation due to high dietary value, more production and short period (90-110 days), less water use and being a leguminous crop benefits in improving the soil productiveness and fertility. Indian growers pay reasonable courtesy to cultivation, especially in respect of manuring, seedbed preparation and irrigation, though not cautious about the weed control part which remains one of the limitations in increasing the production [1, 2]. In India, weeds are one of the key biotic constraints that bound crop output. They strive with crops for natural and pragmatic resources as well accountable for dipping quantity and quality of agronomic productivity notwithstanding incessant research and extension efforts made [3, 4]. Bhan *et al.* [5] assessed that weeds in India diminish crop yields by 31.5% (22.7% in winter and 36.5% in summer and *kharif* time of year). In further trials, weeds were found as the cause for one-third of the total losses in yield, in addition weakening quality of harvest and triggering health and environmental threats [6]. Yield reduction in soybean owing to poor weed control ranges from 35 to 50% reliant on weed flora and their density [7]. Extreme seed yield drops due to weed invasions in soybean was 78.50% [8]. Therefore, fields must be kept weed free at the early period of crop establishment by implementing available weed control options. Herbicides remain to be the most influential, financially effective and reliable means to control weeds [9, 10]. The selection of different herbicides in soybean exposes their effectiveness contrary to either monocotyledonous or dicotyledonous weeds. It is accepted that the effect of herbicide molecules largely depends on crop season, soil, intensity and kind of weed flora [11]. Nevertheless, these herbicides are unsuccessful in controlling differentiated weed flora. Hence, there are crucial requirements to find an appropriate herbicide mix for effective control of weeds. Herbicide blends are a further effective means in taking the weed problem and thus nutrient exhaustion by them than a solo herbicide tactic [12, 13].

Comment [T1]: It is best to include the driving factors for conducting research

Comment [T2]: it is best to complete it with data

Comment [T3]: It is best to complete it with theoretical sources

Comment [T4]: It's best to adapt the writing to the others

Wide spectrum novel herbicides are essential to control the widely held weed flora in soybean cultivation. Usage of suitable herbicide at the right time, in the precise dose, by the accurate method and with a suitable sprayer has revealed extra benefits over manual and mechanical weed control in various cases. Mingling two or further herbicides separately effective against unlike weed flora and individually with diverse mechanisms of action are helpful in dropping the coincidental shift in weed flora and the issue of development of herbicide resistance. Therefore, there is a prerequisite for innovative post-emergence herbicides and their mixtures, which have a broader spectrum of activity. Many crops i.e., groundnut, cotton, sesame, pearl millet, maize, green gram and black gram etc. are the chief subsequent crops, cultivated after soybean in Gujarat. Different crops have differential sensitivity towards various herbicides. Therefore, an assessment on the residual effects of herbicide on the later crop is vital, before it is finally recommended for field applications to the farmers. Keeping the above aspects in light of facts emphasized and outlined, a field research was studied to expose out most suitable herbicides for weed management.

Comment [T5]: Enter the research objectives as in the abstract

Comment [T6]: Write in full if it is not useful, delete it

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

The field test was carried out in summer time of year 2021 at Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, Junagadh Agricultural University, Junagadh, Gujarat. Soil of the trial plot was clayey in texture, medium in O.C. (0.71%) and alkaline (pH 8.31 and EC 0.45 dS/m). The soil was medium in available nitrogen (387.00 kg/ha), high in available phosphorus (84.13 kg/ha) and medium in potassium (235.00 kg/ha). The research had 12 treatments which arranged in randomized block design with 3 replications viz., pendimethalin 900 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS (T₁), pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS (T₂), HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix imazamox + imazethapyr 35+35 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₃), HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₄), HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix sodium acifluorfen + clodinafop propargyl 80+165 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₅), HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₆), pendimethalin 900 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix imazamox + imazethapyr 35+35 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₇), pendimethalin 900 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₈), pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix sodium acifluorfen + clodinafop propargyl 80+165 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS (T₉), pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS (T₁₀), weed free check (T₁₁) and unweeded check (T₁₂).

Comment [T7]: it is best to complete climate data

Comment [T8]: It is best to complete a map of the research location

Soybean (cv. GJS-3) was sown with 60 kg/ha seed rate and 45 × 10 cm spacing by a depth of 5 cm. The crop was fed with 30:60:00 N-P₂O₅-K₂O kg/ha and 5 t/ha FYM. Herbicides sprays were carried out with a knapsack pump using a flat-fan nozzle using 500 liters of water per hectare. The crop growth characters, yield attributes and yield results were statistically analyzed as per the RBD design. The population of all associated weeds were noted at 20, 40 and 60 DAS and at harvest by means of quadrat (0.5 m × 0.5 m) and changed into No./m². Weed dry weight was reported treatment wise and furnished in kg/ha. The figures on weed count were subjected to square root transformation to normalize their distribution [14]. The WI (weed index) and WCE (weed control efficiency) were calculated in percent by the following formulas [15, 16]:

$$WI = \frac{Y_{WF} - Y_T}{Y_{WF}} \times 100$$

Where,
WI = Weed index
Y_{WF} = Yield from weed free plot
Y_T = Yield from treated plot

$$WCE (\%) = \frac{DW_C - DW_T}{DW_C} \times 100$$

Where,
WCE = Weed control efficiency
DW_C = Dry matter accumulation of weeds in unweeded control
DW_T = Dry matter accumulation of weeds in treated plot

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Effect on growth, yield attributes and yield

The data depicted in Table 1 revealed that plant population was not significantly affected by different weed management treatments. Though, the growth characters viz., plant height at harvest and number of branches/plant were recorded significantly higher under the weed free check, pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS, HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS and HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS and pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS as these treatments had lesser crop-weed war for nutrient, moisture, space and sunlight owing to presence of less number of weeds. Next to the weed free, superior yield attributes like number of pods per plant was recorded with pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS, pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS, HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS and HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS. The minimum results of yield attributes were found under unweeded check.

The data on seed and stover yield influenced by different herbicides are also presented in Table 1. All the treatments showed significantly higher seed and stover yields of soybean over unweeded check. The extent of rise in seed and stover yield of soybean with the weed free check, pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS, HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS, pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS and HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS was to the tune of 194.30, 190.00, 185.17, 178.79 and 140.00% in seed yield and 151.81, 143.16, 137.22, 131.59 and 115.79% in stover yield over unweeded control, respectively. This might have improved nutrients and water uptake by the crop resulting in greater rate of photosynthesis and breakdown of photosynthates into numerous metabolic sinks needed for such yield parameters. The enhanced yield attributing characters and increased yields might be due to competent control of weeds by combination of hand weeding and pre-emergence herbicides or combination of hand weeding with pre-mix post-emergence herbicides or combination of pre-emergence and pre-mix post-emergence herbicides as proved by fewer number of weeds and dry mass of weeds, which might have reduced amount of removal of nutrients besides water through weeds. The contemporary discoveries are in the close vicinity of those noted with diverse weed management conducted by Kale *et al.* [17], Sandil *et al.* [18], Pundas *et al.* [19], Patil *et al.* [20] and Rupareliya *et al.* [21].

Comment [T9]: adjust to others

3.2 Weed flora and weed parameters

The major weed flora in the investigation allocation was founded by monocot weeds viz., *Echinochloa colona* (L.) Link (10.38%), *Brachiaria ramosa* (L.) Stapf (9.43%), *Eleusine villosus* Hook.f (6.60%), *Dactyloctenium aegyptium* (L.) Willd (4.72%) and; dicot weeds viz., *Digera arvensis* Forsk (12.26%), *Boerhavia diffusa* L. (8.49%), *Corchorus fascicularis* L. (7.78%), *Trianthema portulacastrum* L. (6.55 %), *Leucas aspera* Link. (5.66%), *Commelina nudiflora* L. (3.77%), *Euphorbia hirta* L. (2.62%), and *Physalis minima* L. (1.88%) and *Portulaca oleracea* L. (1.28%); and sedge weed viz., *Cyperus rotundus* L. (19.18%).

Data on weed parameters as mentioned in Table 2 indicated that among the different treatments, weed free check registered the minimum total weed count at 20, 40, 60 DAS and at harvest and the dry weight of weeds, which was remained comparable with pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS, pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS and pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS. Conversely, highest weed density as well as dry weight of weeds were estimated under unweeded check.

Table 1. Effect of different weed management options on growth and yield parameters of summer soybean

Treatments	Plant population per ha at harvest	Plant height (cm)	No. of branches/plant	No. of pods/plant	Seed yield (kg/ha)	Stover yield (kg/ha)
T ₁ : Pendimethalin <i>fb</i> HW & IC	205741	41.28 ab	3.30 bcd	35.87 bc	1302 bc	2006 bc
T ₂ : Pendimethalin+imazethapyr <i>fb</i> HW & IC	207593	45.29 ab	3.93 ab	40.83 ab	1682 ab	2417 ab
T ₃ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> imazamox+imazethapyr	205000	40.05 ab	3.23 cd	34.80 bc	1198 c	1762 c
T ₄ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> propaquizafop+imazethapyr	207222	43.71 ab	3.87 abc	39.90 abc	1654 ab	2358 ab
T ₅ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> sodium acifluorfen+clodinafop propargyl	205185	41.65 ab	3.30 bcd	35.33 bc	1222 c	1809 c
T ₆ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> fluazifop-p-butyl+fomesafen	206667	42.32 ab	3.80 abc	38.80 abc	1392 abc	2145 abc
T ₇ : Pendimethalin <i>fb</i> imazamox + imazethapyr	203704	39.09 b	2.87 d	33.67 c	1182 c	1753 c
T ₈ : Pendimethalin <i>fb</i> propaquizafop + imazethapyr	206481	41.94 ab	3.37 bcd	37.30 bc	1343 abc	2127 abc
T ₉ : Pendimethalin + imazethapyr <i>fb</i> sodium acifluorfen + clodinafop propargyl	202593	39.17 b	3.20 cd	34.47 c	1222 c	1765 c
T ₁₀ : Pendimethalin + imazethapyr <i>fb</i> fluazifop-p-butyl + fomesafen	210741	42.83 ab	3.80 abc	41.00 ab	1617 ab	2302 ab
T ₁₁ : Weed free check	213889	46.68 a	4.33 a	44.27 a	1707 a	2503 a
T ₁₂ : Unweeded check	201111	32.98 c	2.07 e	22.00 d	580 d	994 d
SEm ±	7159	1.97	0.20	1.87	120	125
CD (P = 0.05)	NS	5.77	0.57	5.49	353	367
CV (%)	6.01	8.23	9.88	8.88	15.53	10.88

Table 2. Effect of various weed management options on total weed count, weed dry weight, WI and WCE in summer soybean

Treatments	Total weed count (No./m ²) at				Weed dry weight (kg/ha)	WI (%)	WCE (%)	Gross returns (₹/ha)	Cost of cultivation (₹/ha)	Net returns (₹/ha)	B:C ratio
	20 DAS	40 DAS	60 DAS	Harvest							
T ₁ : Pendimethalin <i>fb</i> HW & IC	3.34 (10.67)	2.19 (4.33)	4.18 (17.00)	5.11 (25.67)	434 cd	23.69	64.89	82160	49324	33070	1.67
T ₂ : Pendimethalin+imazethapyr <i>fb</i> HW & IC	1.77 (2.67)	1.68 (2.33)	3.29 (10.33)	4.22 (17.33)	200 e	1.45	83.83	105759	49091	56668	2.15
T ₃ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> imazamox+imazethapyr	0.88 (0.33)	2.67 (6.67)	5.37 (28.33)	6.92 (47.33)	685 b	29.84	44.59	75377	48539	26838	1.55
T ₄ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> propaquizafop+imazethapyr	0.88 (0.33)	2.11 (4.00)	3.52 (12.00)	4.97 (24.33)	294 de	3.07	76.23	103975	48653	55323	2.14
T ₅ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> sodium acifluorfen+clodinafop propargyl	1.05 (0.67)	2.96 (8.33)	5.40 (28.67)	6.98 (48.33)	679 b	28.39	45.07	76951	48254	28696	1.59
T ₆ : HW 15 DAS <i>fb</i> fluazifop-p-butyl+fomesafen	1.05 (0.67)	2.02 (3.67)	3.93 (15.00)	5.49 (29.67)	371 cd	18.44	70.02	87809	47638	40170	1.84
T ₇ : Pendimethalin <i>fb</i> imazamox + imazethapyr	3.54 (12.00)	3.34 (10.67)	5.87 (34.00)	7.45 (55.00)	773 b	30.74	37.47	74432	45829	28603	1.62
T ₈ : Pendimethalin <i>fb</i> propaquizafop + imazethapyr	3.54 (12.00)	2.47 (5.67)	4.60 (20.67)	5.63 (31.33)	491 c	21.34	60.27	84809	45943	38866	1.85
T ₉ : Pendimethalin + imazethapyr <i>fb</i> sodium acifluorfen + clodinafop propargyl	1.95 (3.33)	3.57 (12.33)	5.69 (32.00)	7.52 (56.00)	736 b	28.39	40.49	76864	46860	30005	1.64
T ₁₀ : Pendimethalin + imazethapyr <i>fb</i> fluazifop-p-butyl + fomesafen	1.95 (3.33)	2.34 (5.00)	3.84 (14.33)	5.34 (28.00)	287 de	5.24	76.82	101642	46162	55480	2.20
T ₁₁ : Weed free check	0.88 (0.33)	1.34 (1.33)	2.04 (3.67)	2.79 (7.33)	41 f	0.00	96.69	107414	56725	50689	1.89
T ₁₂ : Unweeded check	5.63 (31.33)	6.87 (47.00)	8.74 (77.33)	10.28 (106.0)	1237 a	66.00	0.00	36802	41241	-4439	0.89
SEm ±	0.12	0.18	0.30	0.24	51.61	-	-	-	-	-	-
CD (P = 0.05)	0.34	0.51	0.89	0.70	151.39	-	-	-	-	-	-
CV (%)	9.18	10.85	11.12	6.78	17.23	-	-	-	-	-	-

The data on weed density subjected to square root ($\sqrt{x + 0.5}$) transformation and figures in parenthesis are original values.

Data pertaining to WI and WCE (Table 2) revealed that the highest WI (66.00%) was observed with unweeded check, which suggests that unobstructed weed growth lessened the soybean yield. Besides weed free, lower WI (1.45%) was noted under pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS followed by HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as PoE at 30 DAS. This could be owing to the exclusion of weeds by integration of herbicides and manual weeding. The collective influence on weed dry weight and seed yield under these treatments might have been accountable for exceptional weed indices. The data on WCE indicated that highest WCE (96.69%) was recorded under weed free check followed by pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS and pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS. It is the clear outcome of the effective control of weeds underneath these treatments through hand weeding or incorporation of hand weeding with herbicides or combination of pre-emergence & post-emergence herbicides, which lead to lesser number of weeds and eventually declined weed biomass. Moreover, the compact crop canopy might have curbed weed growth and finally less biomass. These verdicts are inline with Gohil *et al.* [9], Harpreet *et al.* [22], Patel *et al.* [23] and Kutariye *et al.* [24].

Comment [T10]: adjust to others

3.3 Economics

The data on the economics viz., cost of cultivation, gross and net returns, as well as B:C ratio are furnished in Table 2. The scrutiny of results cleared that the maximum gross returns (₹ 107414/ha) and cost of cultivation (₹ 56725/ha) were obtained with weed free check, maximum net returns (₹ 56668/ha) were achieved with pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb HW & IC at 30 DAS and higher B:C ratio (2.20) was obtained with pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as PE fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha at 30 DAS.

Comment [T11]: It's best to include supporting theories

4. CONCLUSION

Effective management of complex weed flora with moneymaking production of summer soybean can be realized by either application of pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as pre-emergence fb HW & IC at 30 DAS or HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix propaquizafop + imazethapyr 50+75 g/ha as post-emergence at 30 DAS or pre-mix pendimethalin + imazethapyr 750+50 g/ha as pre-emergence fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha post-emergence at 30 DAS or HW at 15 DAS fb pre-mix fluzifop-p-butyl + fomesafen 125+125 g/ha as post-emergence at 30 DAS.

Comment [T12]: it is best to complete it with results data

REFERENCES

1. Gohil BS, Mathukia RK, Dobariya VK, Chhodavadia SK. Potential of weed seedbank dynamics and economic feasibility of weed management practices in *Rabi* fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.). World Research Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 2014;1(1):02-06.
2. Bahrami M, Mathukia RK, Muchhadiya RM. Assessing bioefficacy of herbicides and their mixtures for weed management in *Rabi* maize (*Zea mays* L.). The Pharma Innovation Journal. 2023;12(4):2631-2636.
3. Rao AN, Nagamani A. Eco-efficient weed management approaches for rice in tropical Asia. In *Proceeding: 4th Tropical Weed Science Conference on weed management and utilization in the tropics* held during January 23-25, 2013, Thailand, 2013, pp. 78-87.
4. Rao AN, Wani SP, Ramesha M, Ladha JK. Weeds and weed Management of rice in Karnataka State, India. Weed Technology. 2015;29(1):1-17.
5. Bhan VM, Kumar S, Raghuwanshi MS. Weed Management in India. Indian Journal of Plant Protection. 1999;17:171-202.
6. Anonymous. Vision 2050: Directorate of Weed Science Research, Jabalpur, India. 2013, [Weblink: <http://dwr.org.in>]. [Visited on 15 Nov, 2021].
7. Chandel AS, Saxena SC. Effect of some new post emergence herbicides on weed parameters and seed yield of soybean (*Glycine max* L.). Indian Journal of Agronomy. 2001;46(2):332-338.
8. Gidesa A, Kebede M. Integration effects of herbicide and hand weeding on grain yield of soybean (*Glycine max* L. Merrill.) in Assosa, Western Ethiopia. Advances in Crop Science and Technology. 2018;6(5):400-445.
9. Gohil BS, Mathukia RK, Rupareliya VV. Weed seedbank dynamics: Estimation and management in groundnut. Indian Journal of Weed Science. 2020;52(4):346-352.

10. Kadivar MR, Muchhadiya RM, Gohil BS, Kumawat PD. Evaluating the safety of herbicide by bioassay techniques: A review. *International Journal of Research Culture Society*. 2024;7(12):84-91.
11. Muchhadiya RM, Kumawat PD, Sakarvadia HL, Muchhadiya PM. Weed management with the use of nano-encapsulated herbicide formulations: A review. *Pharma Innovation*. 2022;11(12):2068-2075.
12. Upadhyay VB, Singh A, Rawat A. Efficacy of early post emergence herbicides against association weeds in soybean. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 2013;44(4):73-75.
13. Mathukia RK, Sagarka BK, Panara DM, Gohil BS. Efficacy of some post-emergence herbicides and their mixtures against complex weed flora in wheat. *International Journal of Economic Plants*. 2018;5(1):23-26.
14. Gomez K, Gomez A. *Statistical procedures for agricultural research*. 2nd Edition, John Willey and Sons, New York, 1984.
15. Gill GS, Kumar V. Weed index a new method for reporting weed control trials. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 1969;16(2):96-98.
16. Kondap SM, Upadhyay UC. *A Practical Manual of Weed Control*. Oxford and IBH Publ. Co., New Delhi, 1985, pp. 55.
17. Kale RV, Paul SA, Shelke RT, Chimote AN. Effect of different post emergence herbicides on weed management in soybean (*Glycine max* L.). *Research Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 2015;6(5):1159-1160.
18. Sandil MK, Sharma JK, Sanodiya P, Pandey A. Bio-efficacy on tank mixed propaquizafop and imazethapyr against weeds in soybean. *Indian Journal of Weed Science*. 2015;47(2):158-162.
19. Pundas GK, Chandu LT, Sonendra J. Effect of new herbicides on yield attributes and yields of soybean. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. 2018;7(2):2319-7706.
20. Patil AA, Shete BT, Surve US. Effect of mechanical intercultivation on growth and yield of soybean. *International Journal of Chemical Studies*. 2019;7(4):1743-1745.
21. Rupareliya VV, Mathukia RK, Gohil BS, Javiya PP. Effect of post emergence herbicides and their mixture on growth, yield and quality of soybean (*Glycine max* L.). *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. 2020;9(6):1161-1164.
22. Harpreet KV, Guriqbal S, Poonam S. Efficacy of post-emergence herbicides for weed control in soybean. *Indian Journal of Weed Science*. 2018;50(2):182-185.
23. Patel BD, Chaudhari DD, Patel VJ, Patel HK. Bio-efficacy of new molecules of herbicides for weed management in soybean (*Glycine max* L. Merrill). *International Journal of Chemical Studies*. 2019;7(5):3419-3422.
24. Kutariye JK, Kushwaha HS, Kewat ML. Weed flora associated in soybean (*Glycine max* L. Merrill.) under Kymore Plateau and Satpura hills of Madhya Pradesh. *The Pharma Innovation Journal*. 2021;10(7):132-136.